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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JANEAN CHAMBERS
Plaintiff,
v Civil Action No. 13-544(CKK)

KATHLEEN SEBELIUS, SECRETARY OF
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(December 312013)

Plaintiff Janean Chambelsingsthis actionagainst DefendarKathleen Sebelius, in her
official capacity as Secretary of Health and Human Services, alleging endatf Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Rehabilitation Act of 197Bresently before the Couig
Defendant’s[9] Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment

Upon consideration of the pleadifigshe relevant legal authorities, and the record as a whole,

! Strangely, Defendant’s filing lists “Eric H. Holder, Jr., U.S. Attorney Ga&ind).S.
Department of Justice” as the Defendant in this action. Defendant provides no espléovati
why the Attorney General should be substituted for the Secretary ohHeatHuman Services
in this action, and the Court thus disregards thiterdince in Defendant’s captions as a
typographical error.

> The Court notes that Defendant has titled her filing “Memorandum of Points and
Authorities in Support of Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, Motion for Surgmar
Judgment” without actually submitting a separate filing containing the motiom#érisoradum
supports. However, because it is clear from Defendant's Memorandum that shehmedeart
for an order dismissing Plaintiff's claims pursuant to Rule 12(b), or in the dlternaursuant to
Rule 56, the Court will construe this Memorandum as @oinigia Motion to Dismiss, or in the
Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment.

3 Complaint, ECF No. [1] (“Compl.”); Def.’s Mem. of P. & A. in Supp. of Mot. to
Dismiss, or in the Alt., Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. [9] (“Def.’s MSJ"); Def.’s StohiMaterial
Facts, ECF No. [4] (“Def.’'s Stmt.”); Pl.’s Mem. in Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss, or in the
Alt., Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. [11] (“Pl.’s Opp’n”); Pl.'s Stmt. of Genuingukss, ECF No.
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the CourtGRANTS Defendant’'s9] Motion to Dismiss or, in thé\lternative, for Summary

Judgment. Accordingly, this acties DISMISSEDWITH PREJUDICEn its entirety.

. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

Plaintiff Janean Chambers is a 48 yelt blind AfricanAmerican femalewho has
worked for the Department of Health and Human Services (“DHHS”) since 898 Opp’n at
2. In 2006, Plaintiff became a @8343-® Management Analyst in the Office of Information
Services (“OIS”) of the Administration for Children and Families (“ACFi)himn DHHS. Pl.’s
Ex. 1 (Chambers Affidavit) at 1In this capacity, from 2007 until July 2012, Plaintiff's duties
included functningas the Section 508 Coordinator for ACKl. at 3. Pursuant to 36 C.F.R. 8
1194.1, every federal government agency must ensure that its employees atilitidss have
comparable access to electronic data and information through the developroeunterpent,
and maintenancef cappropriate electronic and information technology. Accordingly, every
operating division of DHHS has a Section 508 Coordinator with the responsibility forrgnsur
that employees with disabilitieseaaccommodatesglichthat trey have equal access te@tonic
data and information. Pl's Ex. 7 (Curtis DepositiorExcergs) at 4610-19 Plaintiff's
supervisors in her G8 Management Analyst positiamere Jeanne Dionne and Michael Curtis.
Pl'’s Ex. 1 at 1-2.

Plaintiffs GS9 position was the full performance level of her positimeaning that it
was the highest gradevel that she could be promoted to without either competing with other
individuals for a new, advertised position or receiving acampetitive promotion through her

accretion of duties.Id. at 2. In 2007, Plaintiff became eligible for elevation to -GS and

[11-13] (“Pl.’s Stmt.”); Def.’s Reply in Support of Mot. to Dismiss, or in the Alt., Mot. for
Summ. J., ECF No. [13] (“Def.’s Reply”).



inquiredwith her supervisors about obtaining a promotion to this grade fieral her current
position Id. at 3. Plaintiff pointed outthat all the othemdividuals functioning asection 508
Coordinators in DHHS were paid at a higher grade than she was, ranging fra&t6&S14.

Id. at 4. In her brief, Defendant points out, and Plaintiff concedes, that there is no position
description for a Section 508 CoordinatoRef.’s Stmt.q 23 (citing Def.’s Ex. 1Q(Decl. of
StuartHoffman) § 5); Pl.’s Stmt.at 8 Furthermore, Plaintiff does not deny that there is no grade
level requirement for an individual with Section 508 Coordinaliaties, and admits thahe
grade levelof each designated Section 508 Coordinator is based upon the specific duties,
responsibilities, and authorities granted the incumbent of that posiDef’.s Stmt. | 25 37
(citing Def.’s Ex. 101 6); Pl's Stmt.at § 12 In this vein, Defendant further states tBattion

508 responsibilities comprise a fraction of an individual’s overall duti&ef’s Stmt.| 26
(citing Def.’s Ex. 101 5) Nevertheless, Plaintiff states that allle#fr work timeas a G was

spent on her Section 508 Coordinator duti€d.’s Stmt. at 8 (citing Pk Ex. 11 (Chambers
DepositionExcerpts) at 4.1-17) She also points out that Jaime RobinsoDHHS GS12 IT
employee in a differenémployment seriewith Section 508 Coordinator duties, stated in his
deposition testimony that he did not have any role outside the Section 508ldre&.8 (citing

Pl.’s Ex. 8 (Robinson Deposition Excerpés)y4214-16).

In responseo Plaintiff's requests to be elevated to a-GBb position Plaintiff was
repeatedly informed b¥yer supervisors, Mr. Curtis and Ms. Dionne, that they supported her
promotion, believing that she was an excellent employee who had “blossomed” riesrt c
position. Pl.s Ex. 7 a60:9-2Q Def.’s Ex.4 (Curtis Affidavit) at 3. However, they informed her
that because her current position terminated at9G#H order to be promoted to a &3

position, she would have to compete for aTdSpositionthat became available. In an affidavit



submitted to the EEO investigator reviewing Plaintiff's claim and in his deposiGortis
repeatedly stated that he lacked theharty to promote Plaintiff in the absence of a vacancy,
and that creation of such a position requiredagmerovalof his superiors in DHHS. Def.’s Ex. 4

at 2 (“l only have authority to promote someone in a caladder seriesand she is not in a
promotion allowed career ladder. So | did not have authority to promote herdj;3 (“Her
non{promotion was not based on her race or disability, but on nd1G&portunities being
available to anyone.”)jd. at 2 (“The government process for promotion is that someone
advertises a position and you compete for that. There are fid @8sitions in my office to
promote to.”); Pl.’s Ex. 7 at 56:189 (Curtis stating that he lacked the auity to promote)jd.

at 60:1315 (Curtis responding “Yes” to the question “You thought she was deserving of a
promotion. You just had no way of doing that?9; at 100:45 (noting that vacancies are
“approved by the assistant secretaryig. at 62:10:19 (noting that the &3 was made
available by the assistant secretary who “approves all promotion oppegitinibionne as well
consistently stated that she lacked the authority to promote Plaintié iabsence of a vacancy,
which shedid not havethe power to creatkerself Def.’s Ex. 5at 2 (Dionne Affidavi) (“She

did request a promotion. | informed her that | don’'t have promotion authorit).(}{s]he did
[request a promotion] and informed [sic] her that | did not have the authority to pritwerot);

id. at 3(“I did not discriminate against the Complainant based on her race and disaloiditysbe

| had no authority to promote her.Bl.’s Ex. 6 (Dionne Deposition Excerpts) at 666411
(stating that Dionne and Curtiscked authority to promote and needed approval to advertise a
position). In an amail summarizing a meeting between herself and Mr. Curtis and Ms. Dionne,
Plaintiff stated that she understood them to lack the authority themselveste thee&S11

postion she sought, as they could only request such a position. Def.’s Ex:-rhil(Eom J.



Chambers to J. Dionne and M. Curtis) (“From this meeting my understanding ishé¢hat t
opportunity for me to advance from a 930 a GS11 as the ACF Section 508 Coordinator is
not available in ACF/OIS.”). Curtis and Dionne informed Plaintiff that although they could
request the vacancy she sought, even if the position were approved, Plaintiff wonkkdtto
apply for the position. Id. (“Michael stated that he will continue to push this opportunity for
advancement because of my title. However, if the slot is approved it wilVieetiadd and | will
need to apply for the position.”); Def.’s Ex. 15 (RebuUiffidavit of Janean Chambers) a43
(“Mr. Curtis stated that even if and when he has [the] budget for it, that he wdlttod®mve an
available slot at a higher grade in order to offer al&3evel for the Section 508 Coordinator
position,and he will haveto advertise that job vacaneyd | will need to apply forit. ... He
expressed that he would continue to support me and push for me to be promoted.”). Pl.’s Ex. 7
at 57:2258:5 (Curtis stating “I would hve to go back and ask fof@osition]. . . It would have
to be approved by the assistant secretary. And then they would have to compete. yAnd the
would have to select based on all the people that applied for it.”). Curtis subbegtatat to
Plaintiff that he had requested the creation of alGSacancy, buthat the failure to create such
a vacancy was due to a lack of budget for the position sought by Plaiiti§.Ex. 7 at 83:15
84:5; Def.’s Ex. 1&t 3

Plaintiff challenges this explanation for the lack of her promotoguing that the failure
to promote her constitutes discrimination onltlasis of race and disabilityPrimarily, she notes
that other vacancies were created durirggithe periodat issue and that these vacanakswed
other employees of DHHS the opportunity to advance beyond the full performanseofeteir
positions. Pl’s Stmt. at 2. She points out that the OIS spent at least $206,431 to hire and/or

increase the salaries of five white, adisabled employees during the period when ACF alleges



that it lacked the budget to create a newIX3aJoosition to which she could apply téd. at 2.
Howe\er, in alleging these facts, Plaintiff does not point to @$y11 positioncreated in OIS
Rather she points to the creation of other positions, including -A233%anagement Analyst
Position a GS14 Information Technology Specialisitnd three G85 Division Director
Positions. Pl.’s Ex. 6 at 92:37 (noting that three G$5 positions were filled with existing GS
14 employees)d. at96:1-10 (discussing hiring for new GS-12 positidAl)'s Ex. 7 at 877-88:9
(discussing hiring for G84 position). Moreover, Plaintiff does not suggthat these vacancies
encompassed Section 508 Coordinator dutkesthermore Plaintiff does not offer evidence that
Dionne and Curtis werseriously involvedn the creation of these vacanciedionne states in
her deposition testimony that she filed paperwork with the Human Resourcesnidsyiaid
have the Information Technology Speciapsisitionshifted to a GS.4 fromthe base level GS
13 because theewly hired employee, Terry Chentha[d] been working at a higher salary than
the lowest step,and “[i]f the person has been working at a higher salary than the lowest step,
they can request to be hired at a higher step within the grade.” Pl.’s Ex.:6-a84However,
according to Defendanthe GS14 and GSL5 positionsvere created due to larger departmental
needs identified by the Assistant SecretaBeeDef.’s Att. 1 (Decl. of MichaelCurtis) § 78
(noting that Assistant Secretary David Hansell “conveyed to [Curtis]riha&giard to OIS ACF
positions, he felt it was necessary to fill the three Division Director positions &35 level,

to prevent losing staff.”)id. 8 (statingthat the GSL4 Information Technological Specialist
position was approved by Hansell in response to President Obama’s emphasis seayliy).

In addition, the Court notes that the -G position wanly advertisedn March andApril
2012, shortly before the end of the tirperiod at issue in this case, andat the individual

selected for the position had an effective date of September 2012, well after the lendiro t



at issue in this caseDef.’s Att. 3 (Decl. of Melissa SmitH] 6 Pl’s Ex. 9 GS12 Vacancy
Posting).

In challenging her lack of promotion, Plaintiff also questions whether her supsrvis
ever actually requested the creation of aX3Sracancy.Pl.’s Stmt. at 23. She notes that ACF
has not produced paperwork containing such a request andag@at Donaldsgrithe Deputy
Assistant Secretary for Administration at AG@&ring the time at issystatedin an affidavitthat
Plaintiff requested a promotion from him during the informal EEO mediati@hdreDanuary 4,
2012. 1d. (citing Pl’s Ex. 3 (Donaldson Affidavit) at)3 Plaintiff interprets this statement to
meanthat Donaldsondid not receive @y request to promote Plaifftiuntil the informalEEO
mediation in this case on January 4, 2@h2 thus Plaintiff's supervisors are untruthful when
they state that they requested a vacancy to which she could be pronRiedOppn at 4.
Defendantvigorously disputes this assertiompointing to multiple statements in thecoed
showing that Plaintiff's supervisor, Michael Curtis, repeatedly requested thdiareaf a
vacancy that she could be promotedeteen though he did naxplicitly mention Plaintiff by
name See, e.g.Pl’s Ex. 7 at 621.8-19 (“| repeatedly asked for arll year after year after
year.”);id. at 8220-8314 (Curtis stating that he submitted the request and that “the request for
an additional 508 position at senior level was rejected.”); Pl.'s Ex. & 679-11 (*"My
recollection is that [Grtis] said he wouldalk with Jason Donaldson to see if he could be given
the approval to advertise a positionig. at 685-8 (“I remember in the meeting him saying that
he was going thhave a conversationith Jason Donaldson to see whether he could get approval
to advertisea position.”). Defendantfurther points to aleclarationfrom Donaldson stating that
Curtis requested the position sought by Plainéfiheit without referencing her by namel.’s

Att. 2 (Decl. of Jason Donaldsoff)7 (Donaldsomecalling that Curtisalthough not rantioning



Plaintiff by name “requested authority to create and then compete an administrative support
position.”).

Yet dthough no vacancy existed for Plaintiff to apply to, Plaintiff's supervisorsoesqgbl
an aternative means of promoting her. In response to Plaintiff's contention thahshkl be
paid at a higher gradBonaldson authorized a desk auditef.’s Stmt. { 15; PIl.’s Stmt. at 7A
desk audit is a process by which an employee may request dneitavbe reviewed.”Rand v.
Secretary of the TreasunB816 F.Supp.2d 7072 n. 1 (D.D.C. 2011) (quotingVilliams v.
Dodarg 806 F.Supp.2d 246, 249 2 (D.D.C. 2011)). “[l]f, in the eyes of the reviewers, that
work is at a level higher than that at which the employee is currently gradesinfiioyee will
be promoted to the levethat is reflected by her performanicéd. “This is sometimes called an
‘accretion of dutiespromotion, because the desk audit is meant to triggermagpian to match
theemployee's ‘accretion of dutiegVer time” Id. The desk audit was conducted in early 2012
by Human Resources Specialist Rosalind Fortubef.’s Stmt. § 15; Pl.’s Stmt. at 7; Def.’s Ex.
8 (Fortune Affidavit) at 2. Fortunemet with Plaintiff and discssed her duties, spoke with
Plaintiff's supervisor, Dionne, and used a set grade level criteria of ninedfact analyze
Plaintiff's position. Def.’s Stmt. § 16; Pl.’s Stmt. at Fortune reviewed the following factors
knowledge required by the position, supervisory controls, guidelines, complexity, subpe a
effect, personal and purpose of contacts, physical demands, and work enviroDefeatStmt.
1 17; Pl’'s Stmt. at 7. After conducting analysis of each of these factors, tdoe contuded
that Plaintiffwas properly classified at the €5evel.Def.’s Stmt. { 18; Pl.’s Stmt. at Wendy

Hackley,a Supervisory HR Specialist, approved the desk audit’s findings, concluding that given



Plaintiff's duties, she was properly clagsif at the GD level* Def.’s Stmt.  19; Pl.’s Stmt. at
7. Plaintiff is not challenging the results of the desk audit in this case.

Ultimately, in June 2012in response to Plaintiff's requests for a promotitwe, DHHS
did approve anctreate a G81 Management AnalysPosition to which Plaintiff could apply.
Pl's Ex. 7 at 62:1®3:2 When the position vacancy was advertigbd,vacancy was restricted
to ACF employees.d. at 64:6-8. Plaintiff applied for the position andas the only persoin
ACF found to be qualified.Pl's Ex. 6 at 69:1-304. Plaintiff currently serves in this G$1
Management Analygtosition.

B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff filed suit in this Courbn April 23, 2013, alleging violations of Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972, 42
U.S.C. 88 2000et seq.and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended by the U.S. Department
of Health and Human ServiceSeeCompl. 1. She alleges that Defendant’s failure to promote
heras early as 200Gonstitutes discrimination on the basis of her race (Afrisarerican) and
her physical handicap (blindness). Defendant subsequently filed her [9] Motion tsiemn

the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment.

Il.LEGAL STANDARD
Defendants motion seeks dismissal for failure to state a claim, or in the alternative,
summary judgmentPursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d), “if, on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) . . .
matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the courtaimenosttbe

treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56" and “[a]ll parties must be aive

* While Plaintiff appealed the desk audit’s findings, this appeal was cancelled when
Plaintiff applied for and was selected for a-GBposition at ACF, as an employee cannot appeal
the dassification of apposition to which they are not officially assigned.’©8fmt. § 20 (citing
5 C.F.R. § 511.603); Pl.’s Stmt. at 7 (same).



reasonable opportunity to present all the material that is pertinent to the mdétexhR. Civ. P.
12(d); see Yates v. District of Columbig24 F.3d 724, 72%D.C. Cir. 2003). Here, both parties
have presented matters outside of the pleadings in support of their positions. Acgothdengl
Court will review Defendant’s entire motion under the summary judgment starirduse
“the [defendant's] motidh[was] in the alternative for summary judgment andthe parties ad
the opportunity to submit and submittethterials in support and in oppositiolAmericable
Int'l, Inc. v. Dep't of Navy129 F.3d 1271, 13/mn. 5 (D.C.Cir. 1997) @eterminingthat it wauld
not be “unfair” to treat such a motion as one for summary judgment).

Summary judgment is appropriate where “the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and [thlé]is entitled to judgment as a matter of laiweéd. R.

Civ. P. 56(a). The mere existence of some factual dispute is insufficient on its own to bar
summary judgment; the dispute must pertain to a “material” fégt. Accordingly, “[o]nly
disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the iggviaw will
properly preclude the entry of summary judgmenAfiderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inct77 U.S.

242, 28 (1986). Nor may summary judgment be avoided based on justisagreement as to

the relevant facts; the dispute must be “genuine,” meaning that there must iberguff
admissible evidence for a reasonable trier of fact to find for the non-mddant.

In order to establish that a fact is or cannot be genuingbytgid, a party must (a) cite to
specific parts of the recordincluding deposition testimony, documentary evidence, affidavits or
declarations, or other competent eviderae support of her position, or (b) demonstrate that the
materials relied upon by tlepposing party do not actually establish the absence or presence of a
genuine dispute.Fed. R. Civ. P56(c)(1). Conclusory assertions offered without any factual

basis in the record cannot create a genuine dispute sufficient to surviveasuoadgment.

10



Assh of Flight Attendants-EWA, AFI=-CIO v. U.S. Dep'’t of Transp564 F.3d 462, 465-66 (D.C.
Cir. 2009). Moreover, where “a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact ordails t
properly address another party’s assertion of fact,” the district court numgitier the fact
undisputed for purposes of the motiorkéd. R. Civ. P56(e).

When faced with a motion for summary judgment, the district court may not make
credibility determinations or weigh the evidence; instead, the evidencebmuastalyzed in the
light most favorable to the nemovant, with all justifiable inferences drawn frer favor.
Liberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 255. If material facts are genuinely in dispute, or undisputed facts are
susceptible to divergent yet justifiable inferences, summary judgment isopappe. Moore V.
Hartman 571 F.3d 62, 66 (D.C. Cir. 2009)n the end, the district cousttask is to determine
“whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require sohniss jury or
whether it is so onsided that one party must prevail as a matter of lalberty Lobby 477
U.S. at 25152. In this regard, the nemovant must “do more than simply show that there is
some metaphysical doubt as to the material fadtgtsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith
Radio Corp, 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986); “[i]f the evidence is merely colorable, or is not
significantly probative, summary judgment may be grantedBBerty Lobby 477 U.S. at 24%0
(internal citations omitted).

[11. DISCUSSION

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act makes it unlawful for any employer to “fail or refue
hire or to dischamg any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with
respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, betaush
individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 2&{ag1) Similarly,

the Rehabilitation Act provides that “[n]o otherwise quadfindividual with a disability’'may

11



be discriminated against by a federal agency “solely by reason of tmneratisability.” 29
U.S.C. 8§ 794(a). The RehabilitationAct further states that “[tjhe standards used to determine
whether this section has been violated in a complaint alleging employment discrimunadier
this section shall be the standards applied under [provisions of] the Americansisaitiilifies
Act [ADA].” Id. 8 794(d). The ADA bars discrimination against a “qualified individual on the
bass of disability in regard to . . conditions[ ] and privileges of employment,” includin
“advancement,42 U.S.C8§ 12112(a).

Where, as here, a plaintiff offers no diresvidence of discriminationTitle VII and
Rehabilitation Actclaims are assessed pursuant to a bustddting framework initially set out
by the Supreme Court McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792, 8023 (1973). See
Kersey v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth86 F.3d 13, 147 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (noting that
McDonnell Douglasrameworkalsoapplies to claims under the Rehabilitation Ad®ursuant to
thatframework, the plaintiff has the initial burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidenc
a prima facie case of discrimination or retaliatidex. Dep't of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdiné50
U.S. 248, 2553 (1981). Then, “the burden shifts to the defentldto articulate some
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the [adverse employmehicti I1d. at 253(quoting
McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802).

However, inBrady v. Office of Sergeant at Arnd20 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008)e
D.C. Cirauit simplified the analysis for Title VII disparate treatment suits. UBdady, once an
employer has proffered a nondiscriminatory reason,Mi®onnell Douglasburden-shifting
framework disappears, and the court must simply determine whether thdfgiasput forward
enough evidence to defeat the proffer and support a finding of retaliaBeeBrady,520 F.3d

at 494 (“[W]here an employee has suffered an adverse employment action and an employer has

12



asserted a legitimate, naliscriminatory reason for the decision, the district court need antl
should not- decide whether the plaintiff actually made out a prima facie case Mui®rnnell
Douglas’) (emphasis in original) Consequentlyat the summary judgment stage, a district court
is left with “one central questionHas the employee produced sufficient evidence for a
reasonable jury to find that the employer's asserteelismniminatory reason was not the actual
reason and that the employer intentionally discriminated against the employee basis of
race, color, religion, sex, or national origind’ See also Kerseyp86 F.3d at 17 n.2 (applying
Brady in case involving the Rehabilitation Act)In other words, the Court must determine if
the plaintiff has produced enough evidence such that a reasonable jury would find that the
Departmeris nondiscriminatory reasons are mere pretext for underlyinglawful
discrimination” Perry v. Donovan733 F.Supp.2d 114, 118 (D.D.C. 2010).

Yet “[w]hile Brady directs the district court’'s focus to the employer's proffered- non
discriminatory reason, the Court still first must determine whether plaintsfsuéfeed an
adverse employment action.Adesalu v. Copp06 F.Supp.2d 97, 103 (D.D.C. 2009%ee
Evans v. Sebeliys/16 F.3d 617, 619 (D.C. Cir. 2018)oting that an adverse action is a
prerequisite for a Title VII claim)citing Stewart v. Ashcrgft352 F.3d 422, 426 (D.C. Cir.
2003)) Patterson v. Johnsen505 F.3d 1296, 1298D.C. Cir. 2007) (“Liability for
discrimination under Title VIl requires an adverse employment action.hgdtiown v. Brody
199 F.3d 446, 4585 (D.C. Cir. 1999))Perry, 733 ESupp.2d 8118 (“Before the Court can
undertake [theBrady] inquiry, however, the Court must determine whetieralleged acts of
discrimination constitute adverse employment actionsSg¢e also Baloch v. KempthorrEb0
F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (stating that an adverse employment action is an essential

element of a discrimination claim under the Rehabilitation Act).

13



“An ‘adverse employment action’ is ‘a significant change in employmentsstaiich as
hiring, firing, failing to promote, reassignment with significantly differespomsibilities, or a
decision causing significant change in benefitduglas v. Donovarb59 F.3d 549, 552 (D.C.
Cir. 2009) (quotingraylor v. Small350 F.3d 1286, 1293 (D.C. Cir. 2003). “An employee must
‘experiencl materially adverse consequences affecting the terms, conditionsyvibegas of
employment or future employment opportunities such that a reasonable trier cbd&ttfind
objectively tangible harm.” Id. (quoting Forkkio v. Powell 306 F.3d 1127, 1131 (D.C. Cir.
2002). The D.C. Circuit has cautioned that “not everything that makes an employee ushappy
an actionable adverse actionRussell v. Principi257 F.3d 815, 818 (D.C. Cir. 2001ndeed,
in this respect,‘courts are notsuperpersonnel department[s] that reexamine[] an &mstity
business decision[$]. Stewartv. Ashcroft 352 F.3d 422, 429 (quotirigale v. Chicago Tribune
Co. 797 F.2d 458, 464 (7th Cir. 1986)).

Here, Defendanargues that Plaintiffiasfailed to suffer an adverse employment action.
Def’s MSJ at 46; Def!s Reply at 34. In her complaintPlaintiff alleges that Defendant failed
to promote her in violation of Title Vind the Rehabilitation ActAs Defendant points ownd
Plaintiff appears to concedelaintiff positionterminated athe GS9 grade level.Def.’s Stmt.q
1; Pl!s Stmt.at 4. Thereforethe only way for Plaintiff to be promoted was either for her to
apply for a vacancy announcement or to have her position upgraded via a desk audit. A desk
auditrequested by Plaintiff's supervisors and ordered by Jason Donaldson, the DepstinAss
Secretary of DHHSgoncluded that Plaintiff was properly classified as a9&$d the results of
this audit are not challenged hereonSequently, in order to be promoted, Plaintiff needed to
apply for a vacant positioapen to competition In the absence of a rejected application for an

available position, Defendant contends, there is no adverse employment Beioa MSJ at 5.

14



In addressing failte to promote claim&é employment discrimination casesourts in
this drcuit have focused on the need for showing an available position for which promotion was
denied® See, e.g., Yarbdutler v. Billington 53 Fed. Appx. 120, 120 (D.C. Cir. 2002)
(“Failure to promote is geerally an adverse action . but not if there is no open position.”);
Cones v. Shalalal99 F.3d 512, 516 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (to establigbrina faciecase for non
selection, plaintiff must show there was a “vacancy in the jograd); Hayslett v. Perry 332
F.Supp.2d 93, 100 (D.D.C. 2004) (“Lacking evidence of an available position, plaintiff cannot
establish a prima facie case of employment discrimination based goramotion.”). Such a
principle makes practical sense. The existence of a vacancy signals thatiffl pk&ipervisor
has been provided the authorizatimnappoint someone to the position plaintiff seeks. The
failure to exercise this authority to promote a plaintiff in a protected classdhusonstituten
adverse employment amh actionable in an employment discrimination clairiowever, where
Nno vacancy exists, a supervisor less clearly possesses the authgrymote an employee
above the highest level of a career ladder position. Thus, the failure to piortt@ebsence of
an available positignwhile frustrating to a plaintiffdoes nothecessarilyconstitute an adverse

employment actiofi.See Glass v. Lahop@86 F.Supp.2d 18220 (D.D.C. 2011) (“a plaintiff

® Courts in this Circuit have applied the same standard in assessing aplegment
actions under Title VIl and the Rehabilitation Asge, e.g. Norris v. Salaza885 F.Supp.2d
402, 419420 (D.D.C. 2012), and neither party argues that a different standard governs the two
statutes.

® Perry v. Donovan733 F.Supp.2d 114 (D.D.C. 2010) represents a limited exception to
this principle, holding that a vacancy is not a prerequisite for a failure to pratastewhen the
employee is challenging a lack of promotion based on an accretion of duties, fornehich
vacancy would necessarily be required. Pirry, the plaintiff's career ladder position capped
her grade level at G$1. Id. at 116. Thus, as here, in order to reach1@Splaintiff had to
apply for an available G$2 position or request a desk audd. Since there were no available
GS12 vacancies, plaintiff requested a desk audit, which determined that plaintiff tuayac
working at a GS12 grade levelld. However, the plaintiff's supervisor challenged the results of
the desk audit, and after this supervisor submitted additional information, frmiition was

15



pursuing a failurgo-promote ¢aim in this Circuit. . . must ordinarily establish that there was an
available positiof) (citing Lathram v. Snon336 F.3d 1085, 1088 (D.C. Cir. 2003)).

Perhaps recognizing this limit on the scope of adverse employment actions ffPlainti
attempts torame her argument more broadly. She contends that where an employer regularly
creates vacancies as a means of promoting its employees and told an employee that it was
working on doing so for her, the failure to create and advertise that positiotituteasan
actionable adverse employment actid?l.’s Oppn at 1012. Here, Plaintiff points out thdter
supervisorded her to believe thahey werepushing for thecreation of a GSL1 position to
which she could applyld. at 4. Further, Plaintiff points out that other vacancies (although not a
the GS11 level) were created during the time at isslwing otherOIS employees to be
promoted or hirecat levels above G3$1. Id. at 58; Pl's Stmt. at 34. Plaintiff argue that
togetherthese facts render the failure to promioéean adverse employment acti@ven though
no position existed for her supervisors to appoint herltoessence, Plaintiff argues that her
supervisorglid have the authority to promote her, even in the absence of a vacant position.

Yet Plaintiff's argument is unavailingln Adesaluv. Copps 606 F.Supp.2d 97 (D.D.C.

2011), Judge Paul L. Friedman faced an almost identical situatidms and concluded that no

re-evaluated and a second desk audit determined that plaintiff was actually peyf@&irl

work. Id. at 116117. In response, plaintiff brought suit, arguing that her sigmets challenge

to the first desk audit “was discriminatory because it resulted in the revetalfmmdings of the

first desk audit and foreclosed the opportunity for plaintiff to attain promotidndt 117. The

court concluded that plaintiff hasuffered an adverse employment action despite the lack of a
vacant position to which she could apply, noting that where a “plaintiff requested a desk audit
and presented evidence of work product sufficient to warrant a promotion, the ptaiatdff. . .
overcome the lack of vacancy and establish[] an adverse employment actehndt 119.
Accordingly, Perry's finding of an adverse employment action in the absence of a vacancy was
based on the fact that the “[p]laintiff . . . requested a desk audfrasdnted sufficient evidence

to be considered for a promotionld. That result is not applicable here, as a desk audit
concluded that Plaintiff was properly classified as a9G#d she does not challenge the results
of this desk audit in this Court.
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adverse employment action had occurredAdesaluan AfricanrAmerican Nigerian economist

at the Federal Communicationsr@mission sought promotion from the @3 level, which was
the full performancéevel of his position.Id. at 99. Like Plaintiff Chambers heren order “to
obtain promotion to the G#4 level, plaintiff either had to (1) apply for a competitive vacancy
and be selected, or (2) request a desk audit to determine whether he is performing tiverk at
GS-14 level and, if so, request that he be promotedaoompetitively.” 1d. While no desk audit
was conducted, Plaintiff indicatdds interest in promotion vigacancy to his supervisors. In
response, one of his supervisors “madpromise that plaintiff could be promoted within two
years depending on the quality of his workd. After Mr. Adesalu wasubsequently informed
by his supervisors that he would not be promdteiensibly in violation of this promise), he
brought suit, alleging that the failure to promote him was based on his race andl atgima

Id. In challenginghe failure to promote, he noted that other economists at the FCC, all wf who
were not black or Nigerma were being simultaneously promotedhile he remained in his
current position.ld.

Considering the plaintiff's clainbbased on his supervisor's statemehtdge Friedman
concluded thaplaintiff had failed to show an adverse employment action with respect to the
denial of his promotionld. at 10204. The court noted that “defendant has proffered undisputed
evidence that there were no vacant positions for competitive promotion b4 G&lustry
Economists during the relevant time period. The other employees who were proneoee
either promoted to a different grade (&%), or were on a different career ladder, and thus were
eligible for noncompetitive promotion to G34.” Id. at 103 (interal citations omitted). So too
here, Plaintiff has not put forward any evidence that there was a vacaribg &%-11 position

she sought. And while other employees within OIS were promoted, Plaintifndbasate that
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any of these promotions were madeGS11, the grade level she herself sougRather these
vacancies were created at the-G5 GS14, and GSL5 levels, and none of these positions
involved Section 508 Coordinator dutigsurther Defendant haprovidedevidence that th&S

14 and GS&L5 positions were created to address larger departmental needs and thatlthe GS
position was advertised and filled only at the conclusion of the time at issue caseisSee
Def.’s Att. 19 7-8 (noting that Assistant Secretary David Hansell “conveyed to [Curtis] that in
regard to OIS ACF positions, he felt it was necessary to fill the three Divisientdirpositions

at the GS15 level, to prevent losing staff.”yd. { 8 (statingthat the GSL4 Information
Technological Specialist position was approved by Hansell in resporBeesident Obama’s
emphasis on cyber securitfef.’s Att. 3 § 6. Thus, as irAdesaly, “Plaintiff has proffered no
evidence tolsow that there was a vacant position for which [s]he was eligildlee time period

for which [s]he administratively exhausted [her] claiths606 F.Supp.2@t 103. Accordingly,
“Plaintiff could not have suffered an adverse employment action for fadupeomote when
there were no available vacanciesd.

In reaching this conclusioldudge Friedman also rejected the plaintiff's claim that
supervisor's promise to promolem and subsequentailure to act on this promise rendered the
failure to promote in the absence of a vacant position an adverse employment actidns On t
point, the court concluded that “[e]ven if Mr. Woock did promise plaintiff that plawtfild be
promoted, and laterescinded that promise, Mr. Woodever had the authoritio fulfill this
promise; thus defendant's maintenance of plaintiff at his current grade is nativanse
employment action.”ld. (emphasis added)

Here, Plaintiff argues that there is a genussue of material fact as to whether her

supervisors hathe authority to promote her, which would appear to distinguish this case from
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Adesalu Pl's Oppn at 1012, Pl's Stmt. at 34, 6. Plaintiff contends a jury could find that
when Plaintiff's supervisors decided to promote one of their sutaisas, they were able to gain
approval for the creation of a vacant position designethpromotion of that employeePl.’s

Stmt. at 34, 6. Yet the Court’s review of the record shows that there is no genuine issue as to
this fact. Plaintiff's supervisors, Michael Curtesmd Jeanne Dionndyave repeatedly and
consistently stated that they lacked the authorifyrtonote her or unilaterallgreate the position

she sought.Def.’s Ex. 4at 2 (“I only have authority to promote someone in a catagder
series, and she is not in a promotion allowed career ladder. So | did not have yatdhorit
promote her.”)id. at 3 (“Her nonpromotion was not based on her race or disability, but on no
GS11 opportunitiesbeing available to anyone.”PDef.’s Ex. 5at 2 (“She did request a
promotion. | informed her that | don’t have promotion authorityid);(“[s]he did [request a
promotion] and informed [sic] her that | did not have the authority to promote hdr.&}; 3 (“I

did not discriminateagainst the Complainant based on her race and disability because | had no
authority to promote her.”); Pl.’s Ex. 7 at 56:18 (Curtis stating that he lacked the authority to
promote);id. at 60:1315 (Curtis responding “Yes” to the question “You thought she was
deserving of a promotion. You just had no way of doing that?”). Rather, they have made clea
that the creation of a vacancy is a process that requires the approval of thersup&HHS.

Def.’s Ex. 4at 2(“The government process for promotion is that someone advertises a position
and you compete for that. There are ncX3Jositions in my office to promote to.jj.’s Ex.

6 at 66:1467:11 (stating that Dionne and Curtis lacked authority to promote and needed
approval to advertise a positioil.’s Ex. 7at 100:45 (noting that vacancies are “approved by
the assistant secretary.hdeed,as noted, in an-mail summarizing a meeting between herself

and Mr. Curtis and Ms. Dionne, Plaintiff stated that she understood them to laauthiosity
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themselvego create the GS1 position she sought, as they could only request such a position
Def.’s Ex. 13(“From this meeting my understanding istthiae opportunity for me to advance
from a GS9 to a GS11 as the ACF Section 508 Coordinator is not available in ACF/OI3t").
most,the record reveals th&dr. Curtis and Ms. Dionne possessed the authoritgdoestrom

their superiors tha vacancye created, as well as the authority to fill a vacancy created in their
division. Seeid. (“Michael stated that he will continue to push this opportunity for advancement
because of my title. However, if the slot is approved it will be advertisddl will need to
apply for the position.”); Def.’s Ex. 18t 34 (“Mr. Curtis stated that even if and when he has
[the] budget for it, that he will need to have an available slot at a higher grade incoadier ta
GS11 level for the Section 508 Coordinator positiand he will have to advertise that job
vacancyand | will need to apply for it . . .. He expressed that he would continue to support me
and push for me to be promoted.”). Pl.’s Ex. 7 at 5B6&3 (Curtis stating “I vould have to go

back and ask for .3 slot . . . It would have to be approved by the assistant secretary. And then
they would have to compete. And they would have to select based on all the people that applied
for it.”). However, the record does not support the conclusion that Plaintiff's supervisorg had th
authority tocreatethe position she sought.

In arguing that agenuine issue of material fagkists with respect to this poirR]aintiff
contendghat the eventual creation of a @3 positionto which she could be promoted shows
that her supervisors had the authority to promote her all alBhg Oppn at 7. Yet, agairthe
record shows that approval for the creation of #wentual GSL1 position came from the
AssistantSecretary and not from Plaintiff's supervisor§SeePl.’s Ex. 7 at 62:10:19 (noting that
the GS11 was made available by the assistant secretary who “approves all promotion

opportunities”). That this action was takeat the urging of Curtis does not support Plaintiff's
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argument Rather, this iconsisent with the conclusiothat Plaintiff's supervisors could, and
did, request a vacancthat would function as an upgraded version of a current employee’s
position but could not create oneld. (Curtis noting that the G81 slot opened aftene
“repeatedly asked for arll year after year after year. And it was finally approved at that
time.”) id. at 83:1114 (“The way the process works is you don’t actually create a position for an
individual. You just simply create a position. So the request for an additional 508 padsé#ion a
senior level was rejected.”). Furthermore, the fact that other vacancies were creatéuolntbdt al
other ACF employees to be promotiaring the time at issugoes not support Plaintiff’ claim
that hersupervisors had the authority to create these positiBfentiff points to nothing in the
record to show that the other vacancies veeeatedas aresult ofCurtis and Dionne’s actions.
Indeed, Defendant has put forth evidence thatGS14 ard GS15 vacancies were created due
to larger departmental needs identified by the Assistant SecretaegDef.’s Att. 1 § 7-8
(noting that Assistant Secretary David Hansell “conveyed to [Curtis]riha&giard to OIS ACF
positions, he felt it was necessary to fill the three Division Director positions &35 level,
to prevent losing staff.”)id. { 8 @tating that the G&4 Information Technological Specialist
position was approved by Hansell in response to President Obama’s emphasis on cylig). secur
Further Defendant has proffered evidence that thel@$osition was advertised and filled only
at the conclusion ofe time at issue in this cas®ef.’s Att. 3 § 6 In light of this evidence,
Plaintiff's claim that these vacancies functioneddasfactopromotions that were created by her
supervisors &s no basis in fact ansl mere speculation insufficient to def&sfendant’anotion
for summary judgment.

Similarly unavailing is Plaintiffsargumenthat a genuine issue of material fagistsas

to whether her supervisors even requested the vacancy she sélightStmt.at 23. The
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statements in the record show that Plaintiff's supervisor Michael Glidti®quest his vacancy,
albeit without mentioning Plaintiff by nameSee, e.g.Pl.’s Ex. 7 at 62.8-19 (“I repeatedly
asked for anll year after year after year.ijt. at 8220-83:14(Curtis stating that he submitted
the request and that “the request for an additional 508 position at a senior levejestesl.”).
Plaintiff attempts to cast doubt on these statements by pointing to Donaldson’s stateahe
Plaintiff requested a promotion from him during the informal EEO mediati@hdreDanuary 4,
2012 Pl’s Ex. 3at 3 Plaintiff arguesthat this means that Donaldson did noteree any
request to promote Plaintitintil the informal EEO mediation in this case on January 4, 2012.
Yet, as Defendant points out, this statement, even when read as Plaintiff suypgsshot show
that Plaintiff’'s supervisors failed to request a vacancy on her behalf and tinadepesition
testimony is thus untruthful. Rather, read in the context of Donaldson’s othenestégan the
record, this account is consistent with the fact that Curtis did request a wamamehalf of
Plaintiff, but didnot refer to her by name in making this request. Def.’s Att. 2(CoRaldson
stating that Curtis “did not ask for any position for the Plaintiff, rather, digested authority to
create and then compete an administrativgpsrpposition”). Indeed, Plaintiff points to no
statement from Donaldson that heverreceived a requesor a GS11 vacancyfrom Curtis.
Without statements from Donaldson undermining Curtis and Dionne’s representatlons, a
Plaintiff can point to in ater to show a genuine issue of material fact is her contention that ACF
has failed to produce the paperwork documenting these vacancy requests. But stiameéing
without any showing that Plaintiff has even requested this informatiorevidence as to
DHHS's submission andrecordkeepingregime as topromotion requests, such unadorned
speculation is insufficient to create more than a “metaphysical doubt” as testle of whether

Plaintiff's supervisoractuallyrequested a vacancyMatsushita 475 U.S. at 586. Furthermore,
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even if true, the failure to produce this paperwork is not inconsistent with Plaistiffervisors
making the requests for vacancies oralyeePl.’'s Ex. 6at 679-11 (“My recollection is that
[Curtis] saidhe wouldtalk with Jason Donaldson to see if he could be given the approval to
advertise a position.”) (emphasis addead);at 685-8 (“I remember in the meeting him saying
that he was going tbave a conversatiowith Jason Donaldson to see whether he cgeid
approval to advertise a position.”) (emphasis added); Pl.’s Att. 2, § 7 (Donaldsog #tat
Curtis made his requests for vacancies orally).

Accordingly, finding no genuine issue of material fact as to (1) whether Plaintiff's
supervisors lacked the authority to promote her, and (2) whether Plaintfsvssors requested
a vacancy on her behathe Court views this case as identicalAesalu And justas in that
case,unfulfilled promises by Plaintiff's supervisors that they were working targeter a
promotion do not create an adverse employment autitime absence of a vacanchn order to
obtain approval to advertise a vacancy for the position Plaintiff sought, Plairstiffervisa
had to make a request to the Assistant Secretary of DHHS for auttwoctgate a position
Thus,just as with the supervisor Adesaly, Plaintiff’'s supervisors lacked the authorityd@ate
the vacancythey requested for hewithout the approval of highdevel DHHS employees
Accordingly, theirrequeststo promote her to a position they could not themselves c¢reate
although unsuccessfih the time frame at issuélo not render her failure to be promoted an
actionable adverse employment action.

Plaintiff cites two D.C. Circuit cases in arguing that the failure to create anaador
which an employee can apply can constitute an adverse employment &itisrOppn at 11
12. However neither of these cases exterad far as Plaintiff suggests. First, @ones v.

Shalalg 199 F.3d 512, 518 (D.C. Cir. 2000), the D.C. Circuit held that the decision not to
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advertisea vacant positiorcan constitute amadverse employment action. In thadse, the
plaintiff challenged the defendant’s decision to laterally transfer a vemtgloyee into the
position plaintiff sought promotion to, rather than opems plosition to competitionld. at 516.
Despite the fact that defendant never opehedoo&ion to competitionthe D.C. Circuit found
that the plaintiff had still suffered an adverse employment action becausssifrgfto allow
[plaintiff] to compete for the promotion was tantamount to refusing to promote hamat 521.
Here, the facts are different in a crucial respect. Defendant here has not creatétl pdSi8on
and sought to shield it from competition by laterally transferring another geglia without
advertising a vacancy. Rathas discussedhe position that Plaintiff souglalid not existduring
the time aissueand her supervisors lagtithe authority to create. itPlaintiff could notcompete
for a position thatlid not exist. IndeedConesitself recognized the necessity of a vacancy in
establishing an adverse employment action for failure to pronseteid.at 516 (noting that one
of the “most common nondiscriminatory reasons for a plaintiff's rejectionthis &absence of a
vacancy in the job sought.”) (quotihgternational Bhd. of Teamsters v. United Sta#l U.S.
324, 358 n. 44 (1977))d. at 517 (noting the D.C. Circuit's “clear statements” in prior cases
“that plaintiffs in nonselection cases need show only that they applied fovabantposition
and that a person not of their protected class was selected.”) (emphasis &ddedlsor arber-
Butler, 53 Fed. Appx. at 120 (citinGones 199 F.3d at 516pr the proposition that “if there is
no vacancy in the job sought, the plaintiff cannot establish a prima facie castethd]
citations omitted).

Similarly, Plaintiff's citation toEvans v. Sebeliusr16 F.3d 6174D.C. Cir. 2013) is
unavailing. In that case, the defendant created a position and opened it to competition.

However, after the plaintiff applied and was interviewed for the position, the vaezxy
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cancelled. Id. at 61819. Finding the Government’'s explanatidior the cancellation of the
position inaccurate and inconsistent, and noting the fact that white employees were
simultaneously promoted, the D.C. Circuit overturned the district court's grant ohaym
judgment to the defendantld. at 622. Evansis distinct from the facts here, a® GS11
vacancy to which Plaintiff could applyxisted during the time at issue and Plaintiff's supervisors
lacked the authority to unilaterally create one. dBwtrast, inEvans a vacancy existed and the
plaintiff's supervisorgherehad the authority to promote plaintiff.

Consequently under Circuit case law, there is no adverse employment adiene.
Plaintiff points toDefendant’sfailure to promoteher, butabsemn an available vacancy to which
Plaintiff could have applied, or at least a showing that her supervisors had the atwhceigte
such a vacancgnd failed to request it, there is no adverse employment adtiaderAdesaluy
Plaintiff cannot challenge the failure to be promoted to a position whichad exist and which
her supervisors, whiletilizing their power torequest, lacked the power to unilaterally create.

IV.CONCLUSION

For the foregmg reasons, the Court GRANTZfendants [9] Motion to Dismiss, or in
the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment. Accordingly, this action is DISEIBNITH

PREJUDICE its entirety An appropriate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

Dated: Decembe®1, 2013

/sl
COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
United States District Judge
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